I. Introduction

This matter addresses a narrow issue of law: at what point does

acceleration occur on an obligation that is secured by a statutory Deed of

Trust. The Appellant, 4518 S. 256th LLC, requests that this Court reverse

the trial court's order on Cross-Motions for Summary Judgment wherein

the trial court determined that acceleration had not occurred. The Deed of

Trust in question was recorded in May 2006 and an initial Notice ofDefault

had been forwarded to the borrowers in July 2008. A Notice of Trustee's

Sale was recorded in August 2008; however, the trustee's sale never took

place. A second Notice of Default was issued in October 2014 - six years

after the initial Notice of Default - and a second Notice of Trustee's Sale

was recorded in January 2015, with a sale scheduled for June 2015.

The trial court's ruling flies in the face of express language in the

statutory Deed of Trust, the Notice of Trustee's Sale, the Deed of Trust Act

(RCW 61.24.010 et seq.) and Washington State case law. The trial court's

order should be reversed and the Appellant's Motion for Summary

Judgment should be granted on the basis that acceleration of the loan

occurred, triggering the running of the statute of limitations, which had

expired as to the Respondent's claims.



II. Response to Statement of the Issue

The trial court erred by denying Appellant 4518 S. 256th LLC's

motion for summary judgment and granting Mortgage Electronic

Registration Systems, Inc. ("MERS") and the Bank of New York Mellon

f/k/a The Bank of New York as Trustees for the certificateholders of the

CWABS, Inc., Asset-backed Certificates, Series 2006-7's ("Bank of New

York's") motion for summary judgment because, as a matter of law, the

obligation had been accelerated and the statute of limitations had already

run. 4518 S. 256th LLC was entitled to have title to the subject property

quieted in the LLC as against the Respondent, as a matter of law.

III. Issue Pertaining to Assignment of Error

Can the Trustee foreclose on and sell the Subject Property pursuant

to the statutory Deed of Trust dated May 25, 2006 when the 2006

Promissory Note was accelerated and the six-year statute of limitations for

collection of the debt evidenced by the Promissory Note has expired?

IV. Statement of the Case

A. Original Debt Obligation.

Appellant 4518 S. 256th, LLC ("4518 S 256th") is a Nevada limited

liability company and the owner ofthe real property located at 4518 S. 256th

Place, Kent, King County, Washington 98032 (the "Subject Property"). CP



1. 4518 S 256th acquired its interest in and is theexclusive legal titleholder

to the Subject Property, which is situated in Kent (Tax Parcel Number

3832310540), pursuant to a Quitclaim Deed from predecessors in title and

grantors Teodoro A. Puebla and Elizabeth Villalovos (collectively referred

to herein as "Puebla"). CP 4.

In May 2006 predecessor title holders Puebla executed a promissory

note pursuant to an obligation incurred with regard to the Subject Property.

CP 7-8. The promissory note was secured by a statutory Deed ofTrust dated

May 25, 2006 and recorded on May 31,2006, under King County Auditor's

File No. 20060531000742 ("Deed ofTrust") identifying Teodoro A. Puebla

and Elizabeth A. Villalovos, husband and wife, as grantors to Landsafe Title

of Washington, as Trustee, to secure an obligation in favor of Mortgage

Electronic Registration Systems, Inc., as beneficiary. CP 8.

On or about July 10,2008, a Notice of Default was issued to Puebla.

Thereafter, on or about July 17, 2008 a Successor Trustee, Recontrust

Company, was appointed. CP 8. On or about August 9, 2008 Trustee

Recontrust Company issued a Notice of Trustee's Sale alleging that Puebla

was in default with regard to the obligation and announcing that the sale of

the Subject Property would be held on November 14, 2008. CP 8. See also

CP 12-16. The Notice of Trustee's Sale was dated August 9, 2008 and



recorded as King County Auditor's File No. 20080815001023. Id. The sale

scheduled for November 14, 2008 never took place.

On or about April 12, 2010, Recontrust Company, N.A. was

appointed as Successor Trustee as recorded with the King County Auditor's

office as File Number 20100415000002. CP 8-9. On or about November

21, 2011, Recontrust Company, N.A. filed a Notice of Discontinuance of

Trustee's Sale which was recorded as King County Auditor's File No.

20111128000561 and recorded again as King County Auditor's File No.

20111128000674. CP 18.

B. Recent Efforts to Foreclose Pursuant to Deed of Trust.

On or about October 21, 2014, upon information and belief, a

Second Notice of Default was issued to Puebla. On or about December 23,

2014, Defendant Karen L. Gibbon, P.S. was appointed as a Successor

Trustee pursuant to that instrument dated December 23, 2014 and recorded

with the King County Auditor's office as File Number 20150106002063.

CP9.

On or about January 29, 2015, Defendant Karen L. Gibbon, P.S.,

Trustee, issued a Notice of Trustee's Sale announcing that the sale of the

Subject Property would be held on June 12, 2015. CP 20-23. The Notice of

Trustee's Sale was recorded on February 2, 2015 as King County Auditor's

File No. 20150202001055. Id. The Notice demands payment of amounts



due from January 1, 2008 through January 1, 2015 which confirms that at

no point during the six-year pendency period was the arrearage ever brought

current by the borrower. Id.

Below is a summary of the relevant dates:

07.10.2008

08.09.2008

11.21.2011

10.21.2014

01.29.2015

-hJ ni.it. . • I ' •>- ••---•>JL-1J 5JT- «*Vf frfiTgl

1st - Notice of Default

1st - Notice of Trustee's Sale (recorded August
15,2008)

Discontinuation Of Trustee's Sale

2nd-Notice of Default

2nd - Notice of Trustee's Sale (recorded
02.02.2015)

Accordingly, for a period in excess of six years from acceleration of

the obligation (i.e., from August 9,2008), the Trustee and Beneficiary failed

to preserve their claims pursuant to the obligation evidenced by the

Promissory Note. Therefore, pursuant to RCW 4.16.040, the applicable

statute of limitations has expired, barring their claims.

C. Procedural History.

On June 5, 2015 a Stipulated Order Restraining Trustee's Sale was

entered by the trial court commissioner restraining and prohibiting the sale

of the Subject Property until further Order of the Court.



On July 31, 2015 the trial court heard cross-summary judgment

motions filed by Appellant 4518 S. 256th and by Respondents MERS and

Bank of New York. The issue before the trial court on both motions was

whether the debt obligation evidenced by the Promissory Note and secured

pursuant to the statutory Deed of Trust had been accelerated, triggering the

running and expiration of the statute of limitations. CP 89-101; see also CP

25-41. After oral argument, the trial court denied the Appellant's motion

for summary judgment and granted the Respondents' motion for summary

judgment, dismissing the Appellant's civil action with prejudice. CP 184-

186. The Court further awarded the Respondents their attorneys' fees. CP

228.

V. Standard of Review

Contract interpretation is a question of law when the interpretation

does not depend upon the use of extrinsic evidence. Washington State

Major League Baseball Stadium Pub. Facilities Dist. v. Huber, Hunt &

Nichols-Kiewit Const. Co., 176 Wn.2d 502, 517, 296 P.3d 821 (2013); see

also Mut. ofEnumclawv. USFIns. Co., 164 Wn.2d 411, 424 n.9, 191 P.3d

866 (2008) (noting that when a contract presents no ambiguity and no

extrinsic evidence is required to make sense of the contract terms, contract

interpretation is a question of law); Keystone Masonry, Inc. v. Garco

Constr., Inc., 135 Wn.App. 927, 932, 147 P.3d 610 (2006) ("[a]bsent



disputed facts, the legal effect of a contract is a question of law that we

review de novo").

The de novo standard of review is used by an appellate court when

reviewing all trial court rulings made in conjunction with a summary

judgment motion. Momah v. Bharti. 144 Wn.App. 731, 749, 182 P.3d 455

(2008) (quoting Folsom v. Burser Kins, 135 Wn.2d 658, 663, 958 P.2d 301

(1998)); Anderson v. Weslo, Inc.. 79 Wn.App. 829, 833, 906 P.2d 336

(1995).

Statutory interpretation is a question of law, which the appellate

court reviews de novo. State v. Armendariz, 160 Wn.2d 106, 110, 156 P.3d

201 (2007); Jewels v. City ofBellinsham, 183 Wn.2d 388, 394, 353 P.3d

204(2015).

VI. Argument

A. General Discussion: Acceleration.

Typically, actions based on written contracts must be commenced

no later than six years after breach or said actions are barred. See RCW

4.16.040 (2015). The general rule for debts payable by installment provides:

"[a] separate cause of action arises on each installment, and the statute of

limitations runs separately against each...." See 31 Richard A. Lord,

Williston on Contracts § 79:17, at 338 (4th ed.2004); see also 25 David

K. Dewolf, Keller W. Allen & Darlene Barrier Caruso, WASHINGTON

7



Practice: Contract Law and Practice § 16:20, at 196 (2012-13 Supp.)

("Where a contract calls for payment of an obligation by installments, the

statute of limitations begins to run for each installment at the time such

payment is due"). See also Hassler v. Account Brokers ofLarimer County,

Inc., 274 P.3d 547, 553 (Colo.2012); and Bay Area Laundry & Dry

Cleaning Pension Trust Fund v. Ferbar Corp. ofCal, 522 U.S. 192, 208-

09, 118 S.Ct. 542, 139 L.Ed.2d 553 (1997).

However, if an installment obligation is accelerated — either

automatically by the terms ofthe agreement or by the election ofthe creditor

pursuant to an optional acceleration clause — the entire remaining balance

of the obligation becomes due and payable immediately. This triggers the

statute of limitations for all installments that had not previously become

due. See 31 Richard A. Lord, supra, § 79:17, at 338; § 79:18, at 347-50;

12 Am.Jur.2d, Bills & Notes § 581.

B. Acceleration in the Context of statutory Deed of Trust.

In the instant case, there are several significant facts that indicate

that an acceleration must have taken place more than six years prior to the

commencement of the most recent foreclosure, thus barring the pending

foreclosure by application of the statute of limitations.

First, the Deed of Trust states at Paragraph 22 as follows:



22. Acceleration; Remedies. Lender shall give notice to
Borrower prior to acceleration following Borrower's breach
of any covenant or agreement in this Security Instrument
(but not prior to acceleration under Section 18 unless
Applicable Law provides otherwise). The notice shall
specify: (a) the default; (b) the action required to cure the
default; (c) a date, not less than 30 days from the date the
notice is given to Borrower, by which the default must be
cured; and (d) that failure to cure the default on or before the
date specified in the notice may result in acceleration of the
sums secured by this Security Instrument and sale of the
Property at public auction at a date not less than 120 days in
the future. The notice shall further inform Borrower of

the right to reinstate after acceleration, the right to bring
a court action to assert the non-existence of a default or any
other defense of Borrower to acceleration and sale, and any
other matters required to be included in the notice by
Applicable Law. If the default is not cured on or before
the date specified in the notice. Lender at its option, may

require immediate payment in full of all sums secured by

this Security Instrument without further demand and

may invoke the power of sale and/or any other remedies
permitted by Applicable Law. Lender shall be entitled to
collect all expenses incurred in pursuing the remedies
provided in this Section 22, including, but not limited to,
reasonable attorneys' fees and costs of title evidence.

If Lender invokes the power of sale, Lender shall give
written notice to Trustee of the occurrence of an event of

default and of Lender's election to cause the Property to be
sold. Trustee and Lender shall take such action regarding
notice ofsale and shall give such notices to Borrower and to
other persons as Applicable Law may require. After the time
required by Applicable Law and after publication of the
notice of sale, Trustee, without demand on Borrower, shall
sell the Property at public auction to the highest bidder at the
time and place and under the terms designated in the notice
of sale in one or more parcels and in any order Trustee
determines. Trustee may postpone sale of the Property for a
period or periods permitted by Applicable Law by public
announcement at the time and place fixed in the notice of



sale. Lender or its designee may purchase the Property at
any sale.

Trustee shall deliver to the purchaser Trustee's deed
conveying the Property without any covenant or warranty,
expressed or implied. The recitals in the Trustee's deed shall
be prima facie evidence of the truth of the statements made
therein. Trustee shall apply the proceeds of the sale in the
following order: (a) to all expenses ofthe sale, including, but
not limited to, reasonable Trustee's and attorneys' fees; (b)
to all sums secured by this Security Instrument; and (c) any
excess to the person or persons legally entitled to it or to the
clerk of the superior court of the county in which the sale
took place.

CP 116 (emphasis added).

The initial notice reference in Paragraph 22 is the Notice of Default

required pursuant to RCW 61.24.030. The Notice of Default required

pursuant to Paragraph 22 presumes that if the default is not cured, an

acceleration will occur. Specifically, "The notice shall further inform

Borrower of the right to reinstate after acceleration[.]" CP 116 (emphasis

added).

Thereafter, Paragraph 22 indicates that if the default is not cured the

Lender "may require immediate payment in full of all sums secured by this

Security Instrument without further demand and may invoke the power of

sale." The use of the term "and" is significant, as courts presume that "and"

functions conjunctively. State v. Kozey, 183 Wash. App. 692, 698, 334 P.3d

1170,1173 (2014) review denied. 182 Wash. 2d 1007, 342 P.3d 327 (2015).

10



By definition, the "immediate payment in full of all sums secured by this

Security Instrument" is an acceleration (i.e., all payments become

immediately due and payable). So, stated differently, when a default is not

cured, the Lender's option is to accelerate and invoke the power of sale.

Paragraph 22 does not contemplate any scenario where the Lender can

invoke the power of sale without acceleration, as the Respondent alleges.

The Notice of Trustee's Sale dated August 9, 2008 states that "A

written notice of default was transmitted by the Beneficiary or Trustee to

the Borrower and Grantor [. . .] on July 10, 2008." CP 14. Thereafter,

presumably because the default was not cured, the power of sale was

invoked by scheduling the trustee's sale under the Notice of Trustee's Sale

dated August 9, 2008. CP 12-16. Thus, the acceleration had to have

occurred when or before the power of sale was invoked - otherwise the

power of sale could not have been invoked at all, pursuant to the statutory

Deed of Trust.

C. Acceleration in the Context of Washington Statutory
Language.

RCW 61.24.090, the Washington statute for curing defaults before

a deed of trust foreclosure sale, offers additional guidance as to the moment

acceleration takes place. RCW 61.24.090(1) mentions reinstatement of

arrears any timeup to the 11th daybeforethe sale date as follows:

11



(1) At any time prior to the eleventh day before the date
set by the trustee for the sale in the recorded notice of
sale, or in the event the trustee continues the sale
pursuant to RCW 61.24.040(6), at any time prior to the
eleventh day before the actual sale, the borrower,
grantor, any guarantor, any beneficiary under a
subordinate deed of trust, or any person having a
subordinate lien or encumbrance of record on the trust

property or any part thereof, shall be entitled to cause a
discontinuance of the sale proceedings by curing the
default or defaults set forth in the notice, which in the

case of a default by failure to pay, shall be by paving

to the trustee:

(a) The entire amount then due under the terms
of the deed of trust and the obligation secured

thereby, other than such portion of the principal

as would not then be due had no default occurred,

See RCW61.24.090(I)(a) (emphasis added).

Thereafter, RCW 61.24.090(3) states that, "[u]pon receipt of such

payment the proceedings shall be discontinued, the deed of trust shall be

reinstated and the obligation shall remain as though no acceleration had

taken place." See RCW'61.24.090(3)(emphasis added). The statute clearly

presumes the acceleration "had taken place" before the grantor's

reinstatement. As stated above, reinstatement means payment ofthe arrears

on or before the eleventh (11th) dayprior to the trustee's sale.

In summary, the Deed of Trust allows the Lender/Beneficiary to

accelerate and invoke the power of sale after an uncured default. The

invocation of the power of sale presumes an acceleration. Additionally,

12



RCW 61.24.090(3) presumes acceleration because the payment referenced

in RCW 61.24.090(1) cures the default "as though no acceleration had

taken place."

D. Acceleration and Washington Case Law.

The language in the statutory Deed of Trust and in the Washington

statutes regarding acceleration and foreclosures is consistent with an

established record of Washington court decisions on the issue. In Meyers

Way Dev. Ltd. P 'ship v. Univ. Sav. Bank, the Court of Appeals recognized

that nothing in the Deed of Trust Act prohibits the acceleration of a loan.

See Meyers Way Dev. Ltd. P'ship v. Univ. Sav. Bank. 80 Wn.App. 655, 669-

70, 910 P.2d 1308 (1996). Rather, the Court recognized that RCW

61.24.090(l)(a) simply precludes the creditor from enforcing the

acceleration election prior to the eleventh day before the date ofthe trustee's

sale. This allows the debtor to reinstate the loan prior to that time by paying

the amount which would have been due under the terms ofthe Deed ofTrust

if no default had occurred. See id. at 669-70. Stated differently, this

presumes acceleration has occurred in conjunction with the

Lender/Beneficiary invoking the power of sale.

Persuasive authority indicates the same. The election ofthe creditor

to accelerate in the case ofa nonjudicial foreclosure is sufficiently indicated

by the fact that the creditor claims the whole debt to be due by its

13



advertisement of the property for sale, or by the commencement of a suit

for foreclosure of the entiremortgage. See e.g., C.J.S. Mortgages § 680.

See also Heist v. Dunlap & Co., 193 Ga. 462, 466, 18 S.E.2d 837, 840

(1942) ("[I]t is not essential that before exercise of the power, or before

foreclosure, the granteegivethe grantornoticeor makedemand for the past-

due installment, but that the advertisement under the power, or institution

of a foreclosure action, is sufficient notice of the grantee's election [to

accelerate] under the option.").

In Washington the Notice of Trustee's Sale is advertised and

published in a paper of general circulation indicating in its content that a

sale will take place on a certain day for the total of the unpaid obligation of

the grantor. Case law from other jurisdictions advises that the publication

notice does not have to affirmatively mention the exercise of the

acceleration clause to effect an acceleration:

"Whether or not the mere act of advertising property for sale
under power is without more a sufficient election to declare
the debt due under the option to accelerate maturity, it is
unnecessary that the advertisement should affirmatively
recite the exercise of such option, where it does recite that
the debt is past-due and that the sale will be had in
accordance with the power of sale ..."

See Redwine v. Frizzell. 184 Ga. 230, 190 S.E. 789, 792-93

(1937)(citations omitted).

14



Texas courts have explored this issue thoroughly and conclude that

the Notice ofTrustee's Sale is itself notice of acceleration: "[W]e conclude

that we may reasonably infer that a notice of intent to accelerate followed

by a notice of a trustee's sale constitutes a notice of acceleration." See

McLemore v. Pac. Sav. Bank, FSB, 872 S.W.2d 286,292 (Tex. App. 1994),

writ dismissed by agreement (July 28, 1994). See also Meadowbrook

Gardens. Ltd. v. WMFMT Real Estate Ltd. P 'ship. 980 S.W.2d 916, 918-19

(Tex. App. - Fort Worth \993,pet. denied).

E. Acceleration as to its Applicability on the Statute Of
Limitations

In accordance with RCW 4.16.040 and RCW 7.28.300 the

Respondents had six years from the date of acceleration of the obligation

within which to file a claim and seek relief regarding the alleged default

against the owner of the Subject Property. Pursuant to the above analysis,

the acceleration occurred in conjunction with the Notice of Trustee's Sale

recordedon August9, 2008.'

It is undisputed that the Trustee's Sale scheduled for November 14,

2008 never happened. Instead, a Notice ofDiscontinuance ofTrustee's Sale

was filed on November 21, 2011. CP 18. No further action was taken

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