73834-8

73834-8

No. 73834-8-I

DIVISION I, COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON



4518 S. 256th LLC,

Appellant,

v.

KAREN L. GIBBON, P.S., Trustee; RECONTRUST, N.A, Trustee; MORTGAGE ELECTRONIC REGISTRATION SYSTEMS, INC. ("MERS") acting as nominee for COUNTRYWIDE HOME LOANS, INC., a Beneficiary; THE BANK OF NEW YORK MELLON f/k/a THE BANK OF NEW YORK, as Trustee for the certificateholders of the CWABS, Inc. Asset-backed Certificates, Series 2006-7,

Respondents.

ON APPEAL FROM THURSTON COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT (Hon. Carol Murphy)

RESPONDENTS MERS AND BONY'S ANSWERING BRIEF

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

V. ARGUMENT

A. This Appeal is Barred by Waiver.

Absent extraordinary circumstances, failure to enjoin a trustee's sale constitutes waiver of the right to unwind the sale after it has occurred. *Frizzell v. Murray*, 179 Wn. 2d 301, 307, 313 P.3d 1171 (2013); RCW 61.24.127(2). Wavier occurs where "a party (1) received notice of the right to enjoin the sale, (2) had actual or constructive knowledge of a defense to foreclosure prior to the sale, and (3) failed to bring an action to

obtain a court order enjoining the sale." *Id.* at 306 (citing *Plein v. Lackey*, 149 Wn. 2d 214, 227, 67 P.3d 1061 (2003).

All elements of waiver are met here. Appellant had notice of its right to enjoin the sale – the Notice of Sale explaining that right is attached as an exhibit to Appellant's Complaint. Appellant knew of its defenses prior to the sale – indeed, it filed this lawsuit to stop the sale and quiet title to the Property. Finally, Appellant failed to move to restrain the sale in this Court even though the trial court explicitly gave it an opportunity to do so. 48

As discussed above, Appellant's only claim on appeal is that the trial court erred by failing to quiet title to the Property in Appellant's name. By failing to restrain the trustee's sale, the quiet title claim is waived as a matter of law. *See* RCW 61.24.127(2)(e) (a post-sale "claim may not operate in any way to encumber or cloud the title to the property that was subject to the foreclosure sale[.]"). The result of such waiver is that the trial court's ruling below should be affirmed.

B. This Appeal is Barred Because it is Moot.

"A case is moot if a court can no longer provide effective relief." Harbor Lands LP v. City of Blaine, 146 Wn. App. 589, 592-593, 191 P.3d

11

⁴⁶ 2015 Notice of Trustee's Sale ¶ IX, CP 22.

⁴⁷ See generally Complaint, CP 230-8.

⁴⁸ See RP pp. 25-27.

1282 (2008) (quoting Orwick v. City of Seattle, 103 Wn.2d 249, 253, 692 P.2d 793 (1984)). The issue of mootness "is directed at the jurisdiction of the court" and may thus be raised at any time. Citizens for Financially Responsible Gov't v. City of Spokane, 99 Wn.2d 339, 350, 662 P.2d 845 (1983).

Given that Appellant's only claims for relief are declaratory and injunctive, this appeal must be rejected on the basis of mootness. Appellant specifically requested that the trial court give it time to obtain a stay pending appeal and Appellant failed to seek such a stay. 49 In the interim, the Property was sold to a non-party who is not before the jurisdiction of this Court or the trial court.⁵⁰ Further, under Washington's "first-in-time, first-in-line" recording system, Appellant's failure to record its Quit Claim Deed or a lis pendens means that the foreclosure sale purchaser's fee interest in the Property is superior to any purported interest held by Appellant. See Summerhill Vill. Homeowners Ass'n v. Roughley, 289 P.3d 645, 647 (Wn. Ct. App. 2012) (discussing "first-in-time" rule).

Because it does not have personal jurisdiction over the fee owner of the Property, this Court is not able to afford the relief Appellant seeks. Accordingly, the appeal is most and affirmance is appropriate.

 ⁴⁹ See RP pp. 25-27.
 50 See Trustees' Deed, Ex. A to Booth Affidavit.

C. Borrowers' Loan was Never Accelerated and so the Statute of Limitations Never Began Running.

Appellant seeks to quiet title to the Property in favor of itself.⁵¹ It acknowledges the existence of the Deed of Trust as a lien against the Property, but contends that the Deed of Trust is unenforceable because the debt underlying it has expired under the statute of limitations.⁵² Appellant contends that the six-year statute of limitations began running when Borrowers' debt was supposedly accelerated in the 2008 Notice of Trustee's sale.⁵³ However, there was no such acceleration.

To accelerate a promissory note, an "affirmative action is required, some action by which the holder of the note makes known to the payors that he intends to declare the whole debt due." Glassmaker, 23 Wn. App. at 37 (quoting Weinberg v. Naher, 51 Wn. 591, 594, 99 P. 736 (1909)). "[A]cceleration must be made in a clear and unequivocal manner which effectively apprises the maker that the holder has exercised his right to accelerate the payment date." Glassmaker, 23 Wn. App. at 38. According to Black's Law Dictionary, the plain meaning of, "acceleration" is "[t]he advancing of a loan agreement's maturity date so that payment of the entire debt is due immediately[.]" See Black's Law Dictionary (10th ed.

2014) (emphasis added).

⁵¹ Compl. § IV. 52 See Op. Br. p. 2, Issue to Assignment of Error.

⁵³ See Op. Br. p. 5 (stating obligation was accelerated August 9, 2008.

Respondents agree that the acceleration of a debt triggers a sixyear limitations period – governed by RCW 62A.3-118(a) – to enforce that debt. However, Respondents disagree with Appellant's "foreclosure equals acceleration" theory. As shown below, each of Appellant's theories of acceleration is deeply flawed.

Acceleration and Foreclosure are Separate and Distinct 1. Remedies in the Deed of Trust.

Appellant's first argument in its "foreclosure equals acceleration" theory relies on ¶ 22 of Borrowers' Deed of Trust. 54 That paragraph sets forth the procedural steps that the lender must take *if* it wants to accelerate the Loan.⁵⁵ Indeed, the language of ¶ 22 is purely permissive regarding whether acceleration occurs: "Lender at its option, may require immediate payment in full of all sums secured by this Security Instrument without further demand and may invoke the power of sale."56 Nowhere in this paragraph does the Deed of Trust require acceleration before invoking the power of sale.

Paragraph 22 of the Deed of Trust is itself split into three subparagraphs.⁵⁷ The first sub-paragraph deals with acceleration – the notices that are and are not required before calling the whole debt due.⁵⁸

55 Deed of Trust, CP 116.

⁵⁴ See Op. Br. 8-11.

⁵⁶ *Id.* (citing Deed of Trust ¶ 22) (emphasis in original). 57 Deed of Trust ¶ 22, CP 116.

The second sub-paragraph concerns invoking the power of sale, i.e., foreclosing.⁵⁹ It requires lender to give notice to the trustee and give notice to the borrower as required by law. 60 The sub-paragraph permits the trustee to then sell the property without further notice, to postpone the sale as allowed by law, and, finally, permits the lender to bid at the sale.⁶¹ This sub-paragraph in no way predicates foreclosure upon acceleration of the loan.⁶²

Finally, the third sub-paragraph concerns the procedure and effect of the trustee's deed conveyed by the sale. 63 It too does not relate to acceleration.64

Borrowers were served with a notice of default in 2008. 65 This document was not a pre-acceleration notice under ¶ 22. The 2008 Notice of Default does not threaten acceleration and does not state that the entire debt may be declared due.66 The "effect of failure to cure" listed in the Notice of Default is that the Property may be sold at foreclosure – not that

⁵⁸ Id. ⁵⁹ Id. ⁶⁰ Id.

⁶² Id. 63 Id. 64 Id. 65 Id.

^{66 2008} Notice of Default, CP 140-143.

the Loan will be accelerated.⁶⁷ Thus, it does not meet the requisites of the Deed of Trust ¶ 22 pre-acceleration notice.

Nothing in the Deed of Trust (or any other document for that matter) requires that the Loan be accelerated before a non-judicial foreclosure is commenced. The record is devoid of any pre-acceleration notice, any actual acceleration notice, or any other evidence that the entire debt was called due. As such, the Loan was not accelerated and the statute of limitations was not triggered.

Nothing in the Deed of Trust Act Supports the 2. "Foreclosure Equals Acceleration" Theory.

Appellant argues that RCW 61.24.090 also supports the "foreclosure equals acceleration" theory. 68 However, the statute actually states that the borrower can pay the amount due on the obligation "other than such portion of the principal as would not then be due had no default occurred." RCW 61.24.090(1)(a). That is, it allows the borrower to pay less than the entire principal due. Thus, like the rest of the Deed of Trust Act, this specific statute envisions some situations in which acceleration has occurred and some situations where it has not. If acceleration has occurred, the Deed of Trust Act nevertheless allows the borrower to pay only the past due amount up to 11 days before the sale.

⁶⁷ *Id.* at CP 142.

⁶⁸ Op. Br. pp. 11-13.

Further, evidence submitted with the declarations of ReconTrust and SLS reinforces the legal conclusion that there has been no acceleration. Most telling is the June 2015 mortgage statement, which shows an amount owed as approximately \$70,000 less than the outstanding principal.⁶⁹ Since the creditor stated in that document that less than the entire debt is due, the Loan was not accelerated as a matter of law.

Under Washington law, acceleration occurs where there is a "clear and unequivocal" statement that the whole debt is due. *Glassmaker*, 23 Wn. App. at 38. Appellant presented no evidence of a "clear and unequivocal" statement that the whole debt is due. As such, there has been no acceleration as a matter of law. *Id.* Since there was no acceleration as a matter of law, the statute of limitations has not run and Borrowers' debt remains enforceable. Thus, this lawsuit should be dismissed with prejudice.

3. Appellant's Case Law References are Misplaced.

Appellant cites Washington and foreign law in support of its "foreclosure equals acceleration" theory. These cases are wholly insufficient to support reversal.

⁶⁹ CP 149.

⁷⁰ See Op. Br. 13-15.

Appellant erroneously relies on *Meyers Way Dev. Ltd. P'ship v. Univ. Sav. Bank*, 80 Wn.App. 655, 669-70, 910 P.2d 1308 (1996).⁷¹ Appellant argues that the case stands for the proposition that "presumes acceleration has occurred in conjunction with Lender/Beneficiary invoking the power of sale." However, *Meyers Way* actually cuts against Appellant's position.

In Meyers Way, the plaintiff/borrower claimed that RCW 61.24.090 prevented a lender from accelerating a loan before the sale. 80 Wn.App. at 669-70. In rejecting this theory, the court explained that:

Nothing in this provision prohibits the acceleration of a loan in order to charge default interest on the amount owing. RCW 61.24.090(1)(a) simply precludes the creditor from enforcing the election prior to the eleventh day before the date of the trustee's sale, and allows the debtor to reinstate the loan prior to that time by paying the amount which would have been due under the terms of the deed of trust if no default had occurred.

Id.

Thus, in *Meyers Way*, the plaintiff was not claiming that foreclosure required acceleration, it was claiming that foreclosure precluded acceleration (at least until the 11th day before the sale). In rejecting the plaintiff's position, the court's holding reinforced the

18

⁷¹ *Id.* at p. 13.

optional nature of acceleration as just one of the potential remedies available to a foreclosing lender.

Appellant's reliance on the commentaries and related non-Washington law referenced in its Opening Brief is also misplaced. The non-Washington authorities in its brief are off-point and are countered by persuasive authority that supports Respondents' position that loan acceleration and loan foreclosure are separate remedies that a lender may exercise in the case of a borrower's default.

Appellant relies on non-Washington cases cited in C.J.S. MORTGAGES § 680 for the proposition that if the terms of the deed of trust require notice prior to acceleration, as is the case here, then "the lender must provide clear and unequivocal notice to the borrowers that it is exercising its right to accelerate."⁷² The C.J.S. article cites, *inter alia*, Wedderien v. Collins, 937 A.2d 140, 2007 WL 3262148 (Del., Nov. 6, 2007) (unpublished)⁷³, to illustrate what constitutes an unequivocal notice of acceleration. In Wedderien, after a mortgagee fell behind on payments, the mortgagor sent him a letter titled "Notice of Default and Acceleration" which expressly informed him that the mortgagor was accelerating the mortgage under the relevant provisions of the note. Wedderien, 2007 WL

 ⁷² See Op. Br. p. 14.
 ⁷³ In accordance with GR 14.1(b), unpublished Delaware Supreme Court decisions may be cited in Delaware courts, thus Wedderien may be cited in Washington.

3262148 at *2. The court found this to have provided proper notice of acceleration, but because the notice included an incorrect time to cure, the mortgagor's foreclosure suit was dismissed. The C.J.S. article also cites *Jackson v. Wells Fargo Bank, N.A.*, 90 So.3d 168 (Ala. 2012), in which the notice at issue was titled: "NOTICE OF ACCELERATION OF PROMISSORY NOTE AND MORTGAGE" and it in fact stated: ". . . hereby accelerates to maturity the remaining unpaid balance of the debt . . .". *Jackson*, 90 So.3d at 170 (capitals in original). The key language in both of these cases is the express notice that the loan is being accelerated – language absent in the present case.

Appellant's reliance on *Heist v. Dunlap & Co.*, 193 Ga. 462, 18 S.E.2d 837 (Ga. 1942), is also misplaced.⁷⁴ The question before the court in *Heist* was whether the acceleration clause in the subject real estate security deed required the grantee to *first* give notice of its *intent* to accelerate the debt and make a demand for past due payment *prior to* exercising its right to sell or accelerate. The court held that no such notice was required and dismissed the debtor's suit. *Id.* at 466. Contrary to Appellant's assertions, the *Heist* court did not hold that a notice of foreclosure is the same as acceleration. Any conclusion to that effect

⁷⁴ See Op. Br. p. 14.

would be a weak implication from a single sentence of dicta.

Accordingly, *Heist* does not support Appellant's theory.

Similarly, reliance on *Redwine v. Frizzell*, 184 Ga. 230, 190 S.E. 789 (Ga. 1937) is misplaced because the section that Appellant quotes is out of context.⁷⁵ The court in *Redwine* was not asked to decide whether the published notice of sale served to accelerate the loan, but whether the language in the notice of sale satisfied the requirements in the terms of the security deed. *Redwine*, 190 S.E. at 792-93. The *Redwine* court found that it had satisfied the essential requirements as a notice of sale, and that it was irrelevant whether the notice stated whether or not the loan had been accelerated. *Id.* at 793.

Further, the two Texas cases relied upon for the proposition that a "Notice of Trustee's Sale is itself a notice of acceleration" do *not* hold that a notice of sale is the same as acceleration – rather they are clear that the notice of sale is the second in a two-step process where the first step was the issuance of a notice of intent to accelerate that unambiguously signals that the loan will be accelerated if a default is not cured. **Meadowbrook** Gardens, Ltd. v. WMFMT Real Estate Ltd. P'ship, 980 S.W.2d 916, 919 (Tex. App. 1998) ("we also conclude that Multi–Family's July 1 notice of intent to accelerate coupled with its July 15 notice of foreclosure

⁷⁵ *Id*.

⁷⁶ See Op. Br. p. 15.

amounted to notice of acceleration"); *McLemore v. Pac. Sw. Sav. Bank*, *FSB*, 872 S.W.2d 286, 291 (Tex. App. 1994) ("We conclude that these last acts [providing a notice and then selling the property] constituted "notice of acceleration" as required by statute in this situation"). As discussed above, the 2008 Notice of Default in this case did not list possible acceleration as one of the consequences of default.

Nothing in the Texas cases support Appellant's contention that a notice of sale is the same as the act of acceleration. Rather, similar to Washington law, the Texas Supreme Court requires that lender must be "clear and unequivocal" that it intends to accelerate the terms of a loan. *Holy Cross Church of God in Christ v Wolf*, 44 S.W.3d 562, 570 (Tex. 2001).

Respondents contend that acceleration of the terms of a loan and a foreclosure sale are separate remedies available to the lender. Washington law and law from other jurisdictions fully support this conclusion. *See County of Greene v. Chalifoux*, 6 N.Y.S.3d 763, 765, 127 A.D.3d 1316 (N.Y. Sup. Ct. 2015) ("When a listed event of default occurs, the loan agreement provides certain remedies that plaintiff may elect, including accelerating the entire balance of the loan or commencing a collection action."). In contrast, Appellant's position that acceleration and notice of foreclosure are one and the same is not supported by the law.

Respondents thus prevail on this question and the trial court correctly concluded the same.

D. Even if the Loan Was Accelerated at the Time of the 2008 Foreclosure the Statute of Limitations Has Still Not Expired.

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